

## BRITISH COLUMBIA HUMANIST ASSOCIATION

400 – 3381 Cambie Street  
Vancouver, BC V5Z 4R3

+1 (604) 265-9298  
bchumanist.ca  
info@bchumanist.ca



*For consideration at the Annual General Meeting on May 7, 2017.*

## BYLAWS OF THE BRITISH COLUMBIA HUMANIST ASSOCIATION

### 1 Definitions and Interpretation

#### Definitions

- 1.1 In these Bylaws:
- 1.2 "**Act**" means the *Societies Act* of British Columbia as amended from time to time;
- 1.3 "**Board**" means the directors of the Society;
- 1.4 "**Bylaws**" means these Bylaws as altered from time to time;
- 1.5 "**Ordinary resolution**" means any of the following:
  - (a) a resolution passed at a general meeting by a simple majority of the votes cast by the voting members, or
  - (b) a resolution consented to in writing, after being sent to all of the voting members, by at least 2/3 of the voting members;
- 1.6 "**Society**" means the British Columbia Humanist Association;
- 1.7 "**Society's documents**" include the constitution, bylaws, policies, and Statement of Values and Principles of the Society.
- 1.8 "**Special resolution**" means any of the following:
  - (a) a resolution passed at a general meeting by at least 2/3 of the votes cast by the voting members, or
  - (b) a resolution consented to in writing by all of the voting members.

#### Definitions in Act apply

- 1.9 The definitions in the Act apply to these Bylaws.

#### Conflict with Act or regulations

- 1.10 If there is a conflict between these Bylaws and the Act or the regulations under the Act, the Act or the regulations, as the case may be, prevail.

## 2 Statement of Values and Principles

### Declaration of Principles

- 2.1 The British Columbia Humanist Association is a non-partisan body. It considers secular humanism as a legitimate alternative to supernatural religion and provides services in the community that are often associated with religious institutions.

### Statement of Values and Principles

- 2.2 A Statement of Values and Principles consistent with the Declaration of Principles shall be adopted by the Society.
- 2.3 The Statement of Values and Principles may only be altered or added to by a resolution agreed upon by 95% of the votes cast by members in good standing, either in person or electronically, at a general meeting.
- 2.4 The Statement of Values and Principles shall be made available on the Society's website.

## 3 Society records

- 3.1 The Society must keep the following records:
  - (a) the Society's certificate of incorporation;
  - (b) each certified copy, furnished to the Society by the registrar, of the following records:
    - i the constitution of the Society,
    - ii the bylaws of the Society, and
    - iii the statement of directors and registered office of the Society;
  - (c) The Society's Statement of Values and Principles;
  - (d) each confirmation, other certificate or certified copy of a record furnished to the Society by the registrar, other than in response to a request;
  - (e) a copy of each order made in respect of the society by
    - i any court or tribunal, in Canada or elsewhere, or
    - ii a federal, provincial or municipal government body, agency or official, including the registrar;
  - (f) the society's register of directors, including contact information provided by each director;
  - (g) each written consent to act as director and each written resignation of a director;
  - (h) a copy of each record evidencing a disclosure by a director or senior manager;
  - (i) the Society's register of members, organized by different classes of member if different classes exist, including contact information provided by each member;
  - (j) the minutes of each meeting of members, including the text of each resolution passed at the meeting;

- (k) a copy of each ordinary resolution or special resolution, other than a resolution included in the minutes referred to in paragraph (j), and, in the case of a resolution consented to in writing by the voting members, a copy of each of the consents to that resolution;
- (l) the financial statements of the society required under the Act to be presented to the members at the Annual General Meeting and the auditor's report, if any, on those financial statements;
- (m) the minutes of each meeting of directors, including:
  - i a list of all of the directors at the meeting, and
  - ii the text of each resolution passed at the meeting;
- (n) a copy of each consent resolution of directors and a copy of each of the consents to that resolution; and
- (o) adequate accounting records for each of the society's financial years, including a record of each transaction materially affecting the financial position of the society.

#### Old records

##### 3.2 Records are not required to be kept if

- (a) the record is no longer relevant to the activities or internal affairs of the society, and
- (b) 10 years have passed since the record was created or, if the record has been altered, since the record was last altered.

#### Location of records

##### 3.3 The Society must ensure that its records

- (a) in the case of records that are not in electronic form, are kept at the Society's registered office or another location in British Columbia as specified by a directors' resolution, and
- (b) in the case of records that are in electronic form, are available for inspection at the society's registered office by means of a computer terminal or other electronic technology.

#### Inspection of records

##### 3.4 A member of the Society may, without charge, inspect any of the Society's records.

##### 3.5 The Society shall respond to a request to inspect the records within 30 days of receipt of the request.

##### 3.6 A request by a member to inspect the register of members must

- (a) be made in writing,
- (b) set out the applicant's name, and
- (c) state the purpose of the request.

##### 3.7 The only acceptable purposes for a request to inspect the register of members are:

- (a) requisitioning or calling a general meeting under section 7.3,

- (b) submitting a proposal for a general meeting under section 7.8, or
  - (c) an effort to influence the voting of members on a resolution at a general meeting.
- 3.8 The Board may, by directors' resolution, restrict a members' right to inspect the Society's register of members if the Board is of the opinion that the inspection would be harmful to the society or to the interests of one or more of its members.
- 3.9 A person must not use contact information that they obtain from an inspection of the Society's register of directors except in matters related to the activities or internal affairs of the society.
- 3.10 If a person, other than a member or director, requests a copy of the financial statements and pays the fee, if any, the Society must provide the person with a copy of those financial statements no later than 14 days after receipt of the request and payment of the fee, if any.

## 4 Members

### Application for membership

- 4.1 A person may apply to the Board for membership in the Society, and the person becomes a member on the Board's acceptance of the application.

### Duties of members

- 4.2 Every member must uphold the constitution of the Society and must comply with these Bylaws.

### Amount of membership dues

- 4.3 The amount of the annual membership dues, if any, must be determined by the Board.

### Member not in good standing

- 4.4 A member is not in good standing if the member fails to pay the member's annual membership dues, if any, and the member is not in good standing for so long as those dues remain unpaid.

### Member not in good standing may not vote

- 4.5 A voting member who is not in good standing
- (a) may not vote at a general meeting, and
  - (b) is deemed not to be a voting member for the purpose of consenting to a resolution of the voting members.

### Termination of membership if member not in good standing

- 4.6 A person's membership in the Society is terminated if the person is not in good standing for 6 consecutive months.

#### Discipline and expulsion of member

4.7 The Board may pass a directors' resolution disciplining, expelling, or both, a member should the directors deem the member to be in breach of the Society's documents or to have acted in a way detrimental to the Society.

4.8 Before a member is disciplined or expelled under Section 4.7, the Society must

- (a) send the member written notice of the proposed discipline or expulsion, including reasons, and
- (b) give the member a reasonable opportunity to make representations to the Society respecting the proposed discipline or expulsion.

## 5 Membership Categories

#### Regular member

5.1 A regular member:

- (a) may participate generally in the Society's affairs and use the facilities provided, apart from those otherwise reserved by the Board. and
- (b) has the right to be present, speak on any pertinent matter, and exercise one vote on any proposed resolution at general meetings.

#### Life member

5.2 A life member:

- (a) shall be entitled to membership for life without payment of further annual dues, and
- (b) has the rights and privileges of a regular member.

#### Student member

5.3 A student member:

- (a) is registered as a student at an educational institution recognised by the Board, and
- (b) has the rights and privileges of a regular member.

#### Honorary member

5.4 An honorary member:

- (a) may only be appointed by a unanimous vote of the Board;
- (b) shall be supported only as a recognition for lengthy or outstanding service or contribution to the furtherance of Humanism;
- (c) shall pay no annual dues; and
- (d) has the rights and privileges of a regular member.

## 6 External Affiliations

### Affiliations

- 6.1 Affiliations with other organizations shall be subject to prior approval of the Board or a general meeting. Affiliations shall be renewed unless a motion to terminate the affiliation is passed by the Board or at a general meeting.

## 7 General Meetings of Members

### Time and place of general meeting

- 7.1 A general meeting must be held at the time and place the Board determines.  
7.2 The Board must call an annual general meeting in each calendar year.

### Requisition of general meeting

- 7.3 Voting members may requisition the directors to call a general meeting for a purpose stated in the requisition if
- the requisition (in one or more records in similar form) is signed by 10% of the voting members,
  - states, in 200 words or less, the business to be considered at the meeting, including any special resolution the requisitioners wish to have considered at the meeting,
  - is delivered or mailed to the Society's registered address, and
  - is sent to each of the directors.
- 7.4 Promptly after receiving a requisition
- the directors must call a general meeting, to be held within 60 days of the Society's receipt of the requisition, to consider the business stated in the requisition, and
  - the Society must send, with notice of the meeting, the text of the statement in the requisition referred to in subsection 7.3(b).

### Ordinary business at general meeting

- 7.5 At a general meeting, the following business is ordinary business:
- adoption of rules of order;
  - consideration of any financial statements of the Society presented to the meeting;
  - consideration of the reports, if any, of the directors or auditor;
  - election or appointment of directors;
  - appointment of an auditor, if any; and
  - business arising out of a report of the directors not requiring the passing of a special resolution.

### Notice of general meeting

- 7.6 Written notice of the date, time and location of a general meeting must be sent to every member
- at least 14 days before the meeting;

- (b) not more than 60 days before the meeting; and
- (c) by email or mail to the member's most recent known address.

#### Notice of special business

7.7 A notice of a general meeting must state the nature of any business, other than ordinary business, to be transacted at the meeting in sufficient detail to permit a member receiving the notice to form a reasoned judgment concerning that business.

#### Members' proposals

- 7.8 Voting members may send to the directors a matter that the members propose to have considered at an annual general meeting if
- (a) the proposal is signed by 5% of the voting members;
  - (b) it's, together with any statement in support, 200 words or less; and
  - (c) it's not substantially the same proposal that was considered at a general meeting held in either of the 2 previous calendar years before.
- 7.9 If a proposal is received at least 7 days before notice of the annual general meeting is sent, the Society must include, with that notice,
- (a) the proposal;
  - (b) the names of the members submitting the proposal; and
  - (c) the statement in support of the proposal, if the members submitting the proposal request that the statement be included with the notice.

#### Chair of general meeting

- 7.10 The following individual is entitled to preside as the chair of a general meeting:
- (a) the individual, if any, appointed by the Board to preside as the chair;
  - (b) if the Board has not appointed an individual to preside as the chair or the individual appointed by the Board is unable to preside as the chair,
    - i the president,
    - ii the vice-president, if the president is unable to preside as the chair, or
    - iii one of the other directors present at the meeting, if both the president and vice-president are unable to preside as the chair.

#### Alternate chair of general meeting

7.11 If there is no individual entitled under these Bylaws who is able to preside as the chair of a general meeting within 15 minutes from the time set for holding the meeting, the voting members who are present must elect an individual present at the meeting to preside as the chair.

#### Quorum required

7.12 Business, other than the election of the chair of the meeting and the adjournment or termination of the meeting, must not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of voting members is present.



#### Quorum for general meetings

7.13 The quorum for the transaction of business at a general meeting is 10 voting members.

#### Lack of quorum at commencement of meeting

7.14 If, within 30 minutes from the time set for holding a general meeting, a quorum of voting members is not present:

- (a) in the case of a meeting convened on the requisition of members, the meeting is terminated and
- (b) in any other case, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week, and if, at the continuation of the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time set for holding the continuation of the adjourned meeting, the voting members who are present constitute a quorum for that meeting.

#### If quorum ceases to be present

7.15 If, at any time during a general meeting, there ceases to be a quorum of voting members present, business then in progress must be suspended until there is a quorum present or until the meeting is adjourned or terminated.

#### Adjournments by chair

7.16 The chair of a general meeting may, or, if so directed by the voting members at the meeting, must, adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business may be transacted at the continuation of the adjourned meeting other than business left unfinished at the adjourned meeting.

#### Notice of continuation of adjourned general meeting

7.17 It is not necessary to give notice of a continuation of an adjourned general meeting or of the business to be transacted at a continuation of an adjourned general meeting except that, when a general meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the continuation of the adjourned meeting must be given.

#### Order of business at general meeting

7.18 The order of business at a general meeting is as follows:

- (a) elect an individual to chair the meeting, if necessary;
- (b) determine that there is a quorum;
- (c) approve the agenda;
- (d) approve the minutes from the last general meeting;
- (e) deal with unfinished business from the last general meeting;
- (f) if the meeting is an annual general meeting,



- i receive the directors' report on the financial statements of the Society for the previous financial year, and the auditor's report, if any, on those statements,
  - ii receive any other reports of directors' activities and decisions since the previous annual general meeting,
  - iii elect or appoint directors, and
  - iv appoint an auditor, if any;
- (g) deal with new business, including any matters about which notice has been given to the members in the notice of meeting;
- (h) terminate the meeting.

#### Methods of voting

7.19 At a general meeting, voting must be by a show of hands, an oral vote or another method that adequately discloses the intention of the voting members, except that if, before or after such a vote, 2 or more voting members request a secret ballot or a secret ballot is directed by the chair of the meeting, voting must be by a secret ballot.

#### Announcement of result

7.20 The chair of a general meeting must announce the outcome of each vote and that outcome must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

#### Proxy voting not permitted

7.21 Voting by proxy is not permitted.

#### Matters decided at general meeting by ordinary resolution

7.22 A matter to be decided at a general meeting must be decided by ordinary resolution, requiring a simple majority vote, unless the matter is required by the Act or these Bylaws to be decided by special resolution, requiring a two-thirds vote, or by another resolution having a higher voting threshold than the threshold for an ordinary resolution.

## 8 Directors

#### Number of directors on Board

8.1 The Society must have no fewer than 5 and no more than 8 directors.

#### Election or appointment of directors

8.2 At each annual general meeting, the voting members entitled to vote for the election or appointment of directors must elect or appoint the Board.

8.3 Directors elected or appointed to the Board must consent in writing to the election or appointment.

## Tenure

- 8.4 Directors shall serve a term of 2 years from the date of their election. Directors shall take office immediately following the close of the annual general meeting at which they are elected.
- 8.5 No director shall serve more than 3 consecutive two-year terms. The time served by a director appointed under Section 8.14 is not considered part of the term limit.
- 8.6 Directors shall serve staggered terms to balance continuity with new perspective.

## Qualifications for directors

- 8.7 To be qualified to be a director, a person must be:
- (a) at least 18 years of age;
  - (b) a member of the Society in good standing for at least 6 months prior to election; and
  - (c) not ineligible according to Section 44(3) of the Act.
- 8.8 Notwithstanding subsection 8.7(a), one director aged 16 or 17 may be elected as a youth representative.

## Conflicts of interest

- 8.9 A director is deemed to have a conflict of interest if the director has a direct or indirect material interest in
- (a) a contract or transaction, or proposed contract or transaction, of the society; or
  - (b) a matter that is or is to be the subject of consideration by the directors, if that interest could result in the creation of a duty or interest that materially conflicts with that director's duty or interest as a director of the society.
- 8.10 Any director with a conflict of interest must
- (a) disclose fully and promptly to the other directors the nature and extent of the directors' interest;
  - (b) abstain from voting on a directors' resolution or consenting to a consent resolution of directors in respect of the interest; and
  - (c) leave the directors' meeting, if any,
    - i when the interest is discussed, unless asked by the other directors to be present to provide information, and
    - ii when the other directors vote on the interest, and
    - iii refrain from any action intended to influence the discussion or vote.
- 8.11 All directors' conflict of interests must be recorded in at least on of:
- (a) the minutes of a directors' meeting;
  - (b) a consent resolution of directors; or
  - (c) in writing to the other directors.

#### Resignation

8.12 A director may resign at any time by filing a written resignation with the President.

#### Removal

8.13 A director may be removed by

- (a) a special resolution at a general meeting; or
- (b) a two-thirds vote at a directors' meeting.

#### Directors may fill casual vacancy on Board

8.14 The Board may, at any time, appoint a member as a director to fill a vacancy that arises on the Board as a result of the resignation, expulsion, death or incapacity of a director during the director's term of office.

#### Term of appointment of director filling casual vacancy

8.15 A director appointed by the Board to fill a vacancy ceases to be a director at the subsequent annual general meeting.

## 9 Directors' Meetings

#### Calling directors' meeting

9.1 A directors' meeting may be called by the president or by any 2 other directors.

#### Notice of directors' meeting

9.2 At least 2 days' notice of a directors' meeting must be given unless all the directors agree to a shorter notice period.

#### Proceedings valid despite omission to give notice

9.3 The accidental omission to give notice of a directors' meeting to a director, or the non-receipt of a notice by a director, does not invalidate proceedings at the meeting.

#### Conduct of directors' meetings

9.4 The directors may regulate their meetings and proceedings as they think fit.

#### Quorum of directors

9.5 The quorum for the transaction of business at a directors' meeting is a majority of the directors.

#### Consent resolutions

9.6 The directors may pass a directors' resolution without a meeting if all of the directors consent to the resolution in writing.

## 10 Board Positions

### Election or appointment to Board positions

10.1 Directors must be elected or appointed to the following Board positions, and a director, other than the president, may hold more than one position:

- (a) president;
- (b) vice-president;
- (c) secretary;
- (d) treasurer.

### Directors at large

10.2 Directors who are elected or appointed to positions on the Board in addition to the positions described in these Bylaws are elected or appointed as directors at large.

### Role of president

10.3 The president is the chair of the Board and is responsible for supervising the other directors in the execution of their duties.

### Role of vice-president

10.4 The vice-president is the vice-chair of the Board and is responsible for carrying out the duties of the president if the president is unable to act.

### Role of secretary

10.5 The secretary is responsible for doing, or making the necessary arrangements for, the following:

- (a) issuing notices of general meetings and directors' meetings;
- (b) taking minutes of general meetings and directors' meetings;
- (c) keeping the records of the Society in accordance with the Act;
- (d) conducting the correspondence of the Board; and
- (e) filing the annual report of the Society and making any other filings with the registrar under the Act.

### Absence of secretary from meeting

10.6 In the absence of the secretary from a meeting, the Board must appoint another individual to act as secretary at the meeting.

### Role of treasurer

10.7 The treasurer is responsible for doing, or making the necessary arrangements for, the following:

- (a) receiving and banking monies collected from the members or other sources;
- (b) keeping accounting records in respect of the Society's financial transactions;
- (c) preparing the Society's financial statements; and

- (d) making the Society's filings respecting taxes.

## 11 Senior Manager

- 11.1 The directors may appoint one or more senior managers of the Society to exercise the directors' authority to manage the activities or internal affairs of the society as a whole or in respect of a principal unit of the Society.
- 11.2 A person who is not qualified under Section 44 of the Act to be a director is not qualified to be a senior manager of the Society.
- 11.3 A director may not be a senior manager.
- 11.4 Sections 8.9 to 8.11 also apply to conflicts of interests involving a senior manager.

## 12 Remuneration of Directors and Signing Authority

### Remuneration of directors

- 12.1 These Bylaws do not permit the Society to pay to a director remuneration for being a director, but the Society may, subject to the Act, pay remuneration to a director for services provided by the director to the Society in another capacity.

### Signing authority

- 12.2 A contract or other record to be signed by the Society must be signed on behalf of the Society
  - (a) by the president, together with one other director;
  - (b) if the president is unable to provide a signature, by the vice-president together with one other director;
  - (c) if the president and vice-president are both unable to provide signatures, by any 2 other directors; or
  - (d) in any case, by one or more individuals authorized by the Board to sign the record on behalf of the Society.

## 13 Alterations

### Constitutional amendments

- 13.1 The constitution may be amended to change the Society's name or its purposes by a special resolution at a general meeting.

### Bylaw amendments

- 13.2 These bylaws may be amended by a special resolution at a general meeting.